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Introduction

Jesuit expertise in education and science
has long been respected across Europe and
beyond since the founding of this Catholic
religious order in the sixteenth century.
Grounds for this respect derive, in part,
from the high repute of Jesuit colleges and
universities where science received unam-
biguous attention as dictated by the Jesuit
Ratio Studiorum, or official plan of study,
first approved in 1599.! In addition to this
prescribed ambition to teach science, many
Jesuit institutions embraced scientific in-
struments as essential tools in this peda-
gogical work, which fostered future Jesuit
contributions in astronomy, physics, and
other scientific fields.>

However, when it comes to science, histo-
ries about these institutions are not always
satisfying, especially where it concerns sci-
entific instruments. Thus it is my objective
to look at a specific Jesuit institution, Stony-
hurst College in Lancashire, England, as a
small step toward rectifying this want.This
college claims a long history going back
to 1593 to an institution first started in St.
Omer, then part of the Low Countries un-
der Spain, that functioned as a place where
English Catholics could take up higher
studies free from the harsh religious perse-
cution present in their home country.3 Run
by the Jesuits, its fortunes reflected those
of this order. Tempered by the reality that
just a handful of instruments and associ-
ated documents survive these early times
at Stonyhurst, what follows represents my
best effort to do justice to the history of
this institution per science and instruments
since its move to England two centuries
ago.

The Move to England

In August 1794, a dozen young pupils, four
ecclesiastical students, and a trio of priests
arrived at Stonyhurst, England, the tired and
spare remnants of the college begun in St.
Omer two centuries earlier. Compelled to
leave St. Omer (now a part of France) ow-
ing to anti-Jesuit tension with the French
government in 1762, the college reestab-
lished itself in Habsburg-controlled Bruges.
With the suppression of the Jesuits by the
Pope in 1773, the college needed to relo-
cate once more, this time to Liege where it
flourished again until war erupted between
France and Austria in the early 1790s. When
an offer by a landed English Catholic fam-
ily headed by a former student at Bruges
came to let the Jesuits have a large hall and
unused set of buildings at Stonyhurst (Fig.
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Fig. 1 Front view of Stonyburst today which would be recognizable to the 1794 Jesuits.

Fig. 2 Printed first page of Wright's subscription campaign document, ca. 1808. Notice
the language used - ‘the Gentlemen of Stonyburst’ - as the term ‘Jesuit’ would bave been
awkward given Papal suppression of this religious order at the time.

1), the decision to leave behind these con-
tinental troubles and move all over again
with just their barest possessions was an
easy one.

But before teaching could recommence
at their new English accommodations, the
Jesuits needed to solve a pair of pressing

problems. First, while their new home
looked impressive, it required a consider-
able amount of work on repairs from dec-
ades of disuse and in arranging the many
rooms into the proper layout for teaching,
sleeping, and worship.With money in short
supply, this work took years. Second, the
Jesuit’s hasty exodus from Liege resulted
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Fig. 3a Convex burning glass bought by Wright from Cary of London in 1808, remounted, diameter: c. 26 cm. and b Detail of label.

in their abandonment of a large library and
collection of scientific instruments, losses
that deprived the Jesuits of critical tools for
instruction. A circular from this period em-
phasized that Stonyhurst students would
be taught ‘all the branches of classical
education’, but made no references about
science or instruments, maybe a tacit, and
honest, admission of this problem?? Never-
theless, in spite of these troubles, teaching
did resume in 1794 as best it could from
where it left off in Liege.

Scientific instruments rematerialized in
1804, at least on paper, when Professor of
Philosophy Fr. Anthony Simpson presided
over a Theses Philosophicce defense by
two students which included the topic De
motu pendulorum and mentioned the bar-
ometro under De aere et atmosphcera.’
By 1808, a small cabinet of instruments
existed using the funds obtained by a sub-
scription campaign headed by Stonyhurst’s
procurator, Fr. Charles Wright (Fig. 2), who
mentioned the college’s ‘precipitate re-
treat’ from Liege and the abandonment of
‘a fine collection of Mathematical Instru-
ments’. An extract dated 26 May 1808 lists
several newly acquired instruments, includ-
ing a barometer, small microscope, engine
model, and chemical objects. A letter from
Simpson in June 1808 inventories further
planned purchases: an Atwood machine,
whirling table, and a large air pump costing
£25, £35, and £50 respectively. Later that
summer, Wright himself purchased a pair of
very expensive instruments while in Lon-
don,‘of Cary a large Telescope & large Lens

or burning glass’, costing £100. Of all these
instruments, only the large burning glass re-
mains (Fig. 3a and b), remounted at some
point in a wooden table stand and labelled
‘EX DONO CAROLI WRIGHT 1808.¢

In addition to the procurement of replace-
ment scientific apparatus, Fr. Wright imple-
mented plans to equip Stonyhurst with a
chemical laboratory (Fig. 4). This new
space, measuring 25 x 18 ft., was built next
to an existing lecture room and library,

ig. 4 From FrWright’s 1808 subscription campaign document, the layout of the pro-
posed chemistry laboratory next to existing adjacent lecture and library rooms. Note
comments about this new ground floor laboratory baving ‘both window and lantern
light’.
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rooms that also held the college’s growing
apparatus and mineralogical collections.
Beyond these investments in materials, the
college ensured that its professor of chem-
istry, Fr. Charles Brooke, remained current
in this field by granting him time in London
for study. In a June 1809 letter from Simp-
son, he indicated that Brooke was following
a ‘regular course of chemistry in order to
learn the practical part of that new science’,
and to listen to ‘different public lectures
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that are delivered on various sciences at the
Royal Institution and other places. Student
enthusiasm for chemistry appeared equally
strong based on the comment in a January
1809 letter from Fr. Joseph Dunn, Pastor
of the Catholic Church in nearby Preston,
who wrote ‘I am told that the young men
are chemistry mad at Stonyhurst.” The
fruits of these investments came into pub-
lic view in 1812 when two Stonyhurst stu-
dents performed a series of exercises under
the direction of Fr. Brooke involving heat
along with a ‘Chemical Examination of Vari-
ous Substances.® Nothing mad about this,
merely determined teaching in science.

Other small, but noteworthy, adjustments
illustrate how Stonyhurst worked to fit in
at their new English location. One, Fr. Simp-
son anglicized his former French name of
Sionest, a change that would have lessened
apprehensions over Stonyhurst’s previous
history. Two, a June 1808 letter penned by
Fr. Simpson indicated that ‘with regard to
natural philosophy...it has been decided to
teach it in English’, a swap of Latin for Eng-
lish that would have let Simpson and his
colleagues avail themselves of more easily
obtained English language science texts as
replacements for the library left behind in
France.® Also, little doubt that this switch
would have made the Stonyhurst curricu-
lum, and science in particular, more appeal-
ing to students as well as parents.

Within two decades of their moving to
England, the ‘Gentlemen of Stonyhurst’
had surmounted their immediate difficul-
ties. They had created a new institutional
home for themselves and their students
and reequipped it with those instruments
of science considered indispensable for
the era. In addition to this evidence of an
unsuppressed scientific spirit, a few advan-
tages came from this move to Stonyhurst.
First, the college bought new instruments
from makers in London, Cary for example,
which forged useful contacts among these
knowledgeable individuals.Next, the choice
of English for teaching natural philosophy
probably gave the Stonyhurst professors
of science an improved awareness of new,
more English, ideas about science which
then could be passed on to their students.
Last, one Stonyhurst science professor, Fr.
Brooke, attended chemistry lectures at the
Royal Institution in London, and perhaps in
other places, thus making him and Stony-
hurst visible to a circle of potential new as-
sociates and supporters.All of these factors
should be seen as signs of Stonyhurst want-
ing to cultivate connections, putting down
permanent roots, of not being isolated
from events outside of Lancashire. What’s
more, it fit very nicely with Fr. Simpson’s

22

Fig. 5a ‘Plan of the piers for Transit Circle’ an undated drawing showing the dimensions
of the stone piers for the transit circle by ‘Mr. Jones’ according to the note on the left edge
with the initials JJS.b The building as it appears today.

comment in his June 1808 communication
where he wrote: ‘It is really time that the
Catholics should have a place where the
immense improvements made in science
may be imparted to them. Stonyhurst be-
came this place.

A Nineteenth-Century Place of
Science

Over the next few decades, Stonyhurst
continued to augment its instrument col-
lection in support of its science teaching
objectives. Largely demonstration appa-
ratus, they would lend themselves well to
the task of acquainting students with the
major principles of natural philosophy and
other subjects. A description of the collec-
tion printed in 1824 in The Yorkshire Ga-
zette and Blackburn Mail spoke highly

of the college’s comprehensive cabinet of
science:

‘two large, handsome glass cases, one of
which is stocked with instruments illustra-
tive of the Mechanical, Hydrostatic, Hydrau-
lic, and Pneumatic Principles; the other is
fitted up with those appertaining to Astro-
nomical and Optical Purposes.  Besides
these, there is a fine Newtonian telescope, a
beautiful and highly polished transit instru-
ment, a good astronomical circle, telescope,
timepiece, electrical machines, an air pump,
large and handsome globes, etc., etc.’10

Regrettably,none of these early instruments
survive - only hints remain to reveal their
existence, such as a brief entry in an ac-
count ledger pertaining to the purchase of
an additional air pump for £23,15 in 1834
(sans details about its type or maker).!! Ex-
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penditures of this sort were supported, in
part, through a five guinea fee on students
in philosophy ‘to defray the extraordinary
expences necessarily attending lectures on
experimental philosophy’1? Although the
customary format of these lectures meant
that students would have had limited con-
tact with these instruments, this did not
stop them from taking in the requisite sci-
entific understanding.

In due course a compilation of examination
questions developed that would be utilized
in testing students on their acquired learn-
ing concerning dynamics, mechanics, hy-
drodynamics, astronomy, practical astrono-
my, and optics, but only a few dealt directly
with instruments. For example, one ques-
tion asked the student to defend the idea
that ‘the construction of thermometers’
depends on the notion that ‘all bodies...
are expanded by heat or caloric, but not all
in the same proportion.!3 In 1840, when
Stonyhurst became affiliated with the Lon-
don Matriculation Examination System and
touted itself as ‘connected with the Univer-
sity of London by Royal Warrant’, students
could travel beyond the walls of Stonyhurst
to London to exhibit their knowledge of
natural philosophy and other subjects and,
on occasion, acquire a degree from that
University as well.!4 In this way, the Jesu-
its cultivated high expectations from their
charges as they did for themselves.

In 1835, Stonyhurst initiated construction
of an observatory for astronomical and me-
teorological work. Designed by J.J. Scoles,
a noted architect of Catholic churches
from London, the building comprised a
central octagon with transepts attached at
each cardinal compass point, a design that
placed an equatorial telescope in the cen-
tre of the building under a revolving roof,
a transit circle in the west transept, and a
meridian circle in the east transept. Tho-
mas Cole of London provided two of these
instruments: the achromatic equatorial
with a four inch aperture and 5 ft. 6 in. fo-
cal length and the meridian circle 30 inches
in diameter with an attached scope of three
inch aperture and 3 ft. 6 in. focal length. For
the transit, Cole’s involvement was limited
to providing the plans for its mounting. On
19 September 1838, college records noted
that ‘Mr. Jones the astronomical instrument
maker...arrived with the instruments for
the observatory’, but not until the mid-
1840s were these instruments installed and
put into use (Fig. 5a and b). However, this
did not prevent Stonyhurst from advertising
in 1839 its new ‘Astronomical Observatory’
over and above its ‘extensive apparatus for
Experimental Philosophy’ and substantial
‘Chemical Laboratory’ !>

which, after he used ‘our equa-
toreal’ to observe sunspots, a
number of detailed measure-
ments were provided. Subse-
quent work saw Weld putting the
Stonyhurst astronomical instru-
ments on a precise footing by es-
tablishing carefully the observa-
tory’s longitude (9’ 52.68” west
of Greenwich) and ensuring the
repeated accuracy of the transit
circle by meridian marks placed
‘between four and five miles
distant from the observatory’.
‘Weld’s efforts in astronomy were
not without impact or notice for
he is given credit for arousing in
Angelo Secchi (then a recently
ordained Italian Jesuit staying
at Stonyhurst for six months in
1848 who later became the di-
rector of the observatory at the
Roman College) an enduring in-
terest in astronomy, then Weld’s
election, in January 1849, as a
Fellow of the Royal Astronomi-

Fig. 6a Dip circle made by Henry Barrow & Co. 26
Oxendon St. London. Height 32 cm; wood frame 17.8
cm square; scale diameter 15 cm; needle length 9 cm.
b Detail of serial no.32".

The new observatory remained scientifical-
ly inconspicuous for virtually a decade, its
instruments little used despite Stonyhurst
natural philosophy and mathematics Pro-
fessor Rev. Henry McCann being listed in
1842 as the director. In contrast, significant
scientific activity began to take place when
former Stonyhurst student and London Uni-
versity graduate Fr.Alfred Weld took charge
of the observatory in 1848. Weld began
serious efforts not only in astronomy, but
meteorology and magnetism as well, pur-
suits that would continue for decades and
make the college well-known to the Eng-
lish public in addition to scientists around
the world.1¢

For example, Weld submitted a short note
to the Philosophical Magazine in 1848 in
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cal Society.1”

In the late 1840s,Weld started to
report meteorological observa-
tions to local newspapers using
a set of unidentified instruments
that, based on the kinds of data
listed in the Liverpool Mercury
in March 1849, consisted of a
thermometer with high/low
registers, a barometer, a hygrom-
eter, and a rain gauge. Given the
timing of this reporting, some of
these instruments may have been
those provided to Stonyhurst by
the Royal Observatory at Green-
wich, specifically ‘a set of barom-
eters and thermometers of the
most approved construction and
duly adjusted’ which were being
given out under an arrangement
devised by James Glaisher, chief assistant
to the Astronomer Royal, to setup a sys-
tem of weather observation stations across
England. Stonyhurst proved itself a reliable
source of weather data such that, in 1867,
the Board of Trade selected the college as
one of seven sites that would be provid-
ed with a complete set of self-recording
weather instruments, including a Casella’s
Thermograph and Adie’s Barograph, to help
improve weather forecasting in Britain.!8

Besides guiding the growth of Stonyhurst’s
astronomical and meteorological facili-
ties, Weld also labored to establish a new
magnetical observatory with the help of
Francis Ronalds of the British Association.
In 1849 Ronalds, honorary superintendent
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Fig.7a Perry Telescope at the time of Stonyburst’s 1894
Centennial (from Gerald, p. 286).b Commemorative
plaque bonouring Perry.

of the Kew Observatory, reported that he
had been in correspondence with Weld
‘respecting the establishment of a self-reg-
istering electric and magnetic observatory
at Stonyhurst’, but was unable to proceed
due to the lack of a ‘suitable building at
that locality’. By 1858, this difficulty had
been eliminated when the Kew Committee
report at the British Association meeting in
Leeds indicated that apparatus for Stony-
hurst was ‘in course of preparation, and Mr.
Weld has received instructions in the use
of the magnetical instrument’s. Based on
an 1871 Royal Society report, these instru-
ments arrived in 1858 and consisted of ‘a
Jones unifilar [magnetometer] and a dip-
circle by Barrow (Fig. 6a and b), both tested
at Kew’, of which the latter instrument,
serial number 32, survives. By means of
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these and the other new instruments in the
Stonyhurst observatory,Weld, in a little over
a decade, had positioned the college close
to the vanguard of research in three vibrant
scientific fields.1?

In 1860,Weld stepped down as the observa-
tory director, to be replaced by Rev.Stephen
J.Perry,S.J.,who not only maintained Weld’s
level of enthusiasm for science and instru-
ments, but added to it at Stonyhurst and
overseas. He improved the astronomical
capability of the college when, in 1867, a
used eight inch equatorial having an object
glass by Troughton and Simms was pro-
cured. Due to worries that the mass of its
iron pier would disturb existing magnetical
instruments, a new circular observatory 24
feet in diameter with a revolving dome was
built about 75 yards from the existing facili-
ty to house this large telescope. Along with
the new self-registering mete-
orological instruments provided
by the Board of Trade and new
self-recording  magnetographs
furnished via an 1866 grant from
the Royal Society, the Stonyhurst
observatory now stood very
complete. For work abroad,
Perry sometimes took college
instruments with him, such as
his magnetic survey of France in
1868-9. He participated on many
astronomical expeditions,includ-
ing Transit of Venus observations
in 1874 and 1882 in Kerguelen
and Madagascar respectively,
and three solar eclipse trips dur-
ing the 1880s. Regrettably, his
eclipse journey in 1889 to the
fles du Salut (near present-day
French Guiana) was his last as he
died enroute home. In response,
and out of great respect to Perry,
funds were raised to upgrade
the eight inch equatorial with
a firstrate fifteen inch lens by
Howard Grubb from Dublin. In November
1893, Grubb fitted the new objective lens
on what is now called the Perry Telescope
(Fig. 7a and b), an instrument still used for
teaching today (but only after it took a few
interesting turns, a story to be told in the
next section).2?

While an 1880s Stonyhurst Prospectus pro-
claimed that the ‘observatories are open to
the use of students’, little evidence exists to
suggest the frequent presence of students
in these facilities. In March 1857, one stu-
dent, Sir Rowland Blennerhassett, tackled
the question ‘Description and use of the
Transit Instrument’ at a Stonyhurst monthly
student questioning, or menstruum. But
as he went on to a life in politics and not

Fig.8 Crookes Radiometer, beight 22 cm.

Fig.9 Late 19™-century Atwood Machine
with signs of use, repairs and improve-
ments, being admired by retired science
instructor Patrick Gavin (L) and archi-
vist Jan Graffius (R).
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Fig. 10 Spectroscope by Jobn Browning 63 Strand London’ sans central prism

assembly.
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Fig. 11 Photograph of the stellar spectrum of Nova Aurigae made by Fr.Walter Sidgreaves.

(Image courtesy of the Museum of the History of Science, Oxford; Inv. no. 11859).

science, whatever his time in the observa-
tory appears to have been perfunctory
with little durable impact. In 1894, when a
student journalist for the Stonyburst Maga-
zine reported that he saw ‘learned persons
constantly crossing the playground on their
way to and from their labours [in the ob-
servatory]’ and wrote ‘the observatory was
to us a mysterious place’, one gains the im-
pression that the ‘us’ (or students) stood far
removed from the endeavours now occur-
ring in this place of science. Yet, with the
sophisticated astronomical, magnetical, and
meteorological apparatus then installed in
the Stonyhurst observatory, it would be
reasonable for most students to deem them
mysterious and unapproachable.?!

However, students did encounter instru-
ments in the classroom, complemented
by ‘practical work in the laboratory’, and,
based on surviving instruments from this
time, physics garnered generous attention.
From questions raised by a spinning Crook-
es Radiometer (Fig. 8) to answers from an
Atwood machine (Fig. 9), science per the
demands of the Jesuit classical curriculum
would have engaged students with a sin-
cere vitality,. When new fields of science
developed, like spectroscopy, the college
kept pace by acquiring suitable teaching

Fig. 12 Ceramic eye model
(partially disassembled) by
EE. Becker and Co. of London.
Height 24.2 cm, diameter 14
cm.

Fig. 13 Chemistry models, date
and maker unknown, wood
base c. 8 x 8 cm.
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Fig. 14 Earth Inductor by W.G. Pye & Co.,
Cambridge, England, c. 1910.

apparatus (Fig. 10) for its students. Howev-
er, while science might have been fostered
in the classroom, when it came to ‘Academy
Day’ awards distributed to graduating stu-
dents, science found itself demoted when
the Stonyhurst Association rewarded ‘de-
bating’ with a £5 first prize compared to a
&2 first prize presented for ‘natural philoso-
phy’. Thus, when it came to science, while
an expected area of study, students may
have observed other priorities.??

At the end of the nineteenth century, Stony-
hurst could claim a well-earned reputation
for science. Through the notable instru-
ments installed in its observatory, the col-
lege had become well-known locally and
abroad for its work in astronomy, meteorol-
ogy, and magnetical studies. Their stature
was cause enough for visits ranging from
delegates from the 1883 British Association
meeting in close by Southport to Ameri-
can astrophysicist George Ellery Hale who,
in 1893, made ‘a careful inspection of the
work of the observatory’, especially Father
Walter Sidgreaves activity in stellar and
solar spectroscopy (Fig. 11) with a Hilger
spectrometer.In the classroom,instruments
contributed to a more modest level of suc-
cess where Stonyhurst students, exposed
consistently to the workings of science via
classroom and laboratory apparatus, found
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Fig. 15a Wilson Cloud Chamber by Griffin and George,
Lid. Diameter 12 cm.;b detail of signature. c View-Master
disk with stereo views that illustrate ‘Detection of Nuclear
Particles’ by Sawyer’s Inc., Portland, Oregon, c. 1964.

themselves competitive with the graduates
from other British colleges on exams for
the University of London, Cambridge, and
Oxford. But moving into the twentieth cen-
tury, the demands of higher education and
science began to change, causing Stony-
hurst to change as well, except for its ardor
for scientific instruments.?3

Into the Twentieth Century

In 1900, Stonyhurst can be seen promot-
ing the teaching of science as part of its
‘higher studies’ and ‘school course’ depart-
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ments, but now with a new and specific
prominence on giving ‘such training to
those students who are to enter Oxford or
Cambridge’ or for being ‘prepared for the
Higher Certificates of the Oxford and Cam-
bridge School Examination Board’ respec-
tively. As the ban that kept Catholics from
attending these universities had been lifted
in 1895, Stonyhurst could nudge its curricu-
lum away from the Jesuit Ratio and toward
teaching its students material dictated by
Oxbridge admission requirements and
government educational standards. Teach-
ing science remained crucial as did instru-

cumn »
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ments, but classes be-
came more foundational
with greater emphasis
on student experiments
along with coverage of
new topics.24

For example, a new bi-
ology course (Fig. 12),
one intended to prepare
students for medical
diplomas, took shape
under the guidance of
Edinburgh-trained phy-
sician Reginald Horsley.
Horsley, one of the first
lay instructors at Stony-
hurst, lectured and di-
rected practical laborato-
ry work where students
performed  dissections
and like tasks. ‘Furnished
with half a dozen micro-
scopes and all the usual apparatus’, students
had access to ‘a very respectable laboratory’
that also fulfilled the demands of the Con-
joint Board of the Royal Colleges of Physi-
cians and Surgeons regarding course credit.
A few microscopes survive from this time,
all made in London by C. Baker, R&J Beck,
or Ross, in addition to a handful of anatomi-
cal models.?>

Stonyhurst remained ‘chemistry mad’ into
the twentieth century where records
show the college provided ample teach-

Fig. 16 Cockcroft-Walton bigh voltage
generator using modern semiconductor
technology, made in nearby Blackburn,
England, by UNILAB. Height, including
sphere, 25.5 cm.

ing resources on this topic (Fig. 13). Phys-
ics flourished as well, a fact confirmed by
the many surviving instruments from this
period dealing with electricity, magnetism,
mechanics, and optics. Consistent with
the changing nature of instrument mak-
ing, most of these instruments came from
makers like W.G. Pye of Cambridge (Fig. 14)
who prospered serving the needs of educa-
tional institutions wanting to stay current
in teaching modern physics. As the cen-
tury progressed, even advanced teaching
tools like cloud chambers (Fig. 15a, b and
c¢) and Cockcroft-Walton generators (Fig.
16) became available, a state of affairs un-
derscoring that success in science teaching
depended more on having suitable facilities
and qualified instructors and less on the
availability of teaching instruments. Quite
the opposite of the situation that faced
Stonyhurst when the college moved to Eng-
land in 1794.
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Fig. 18 Physics room in remodelled science building (plan dated November 1965).
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Added evidence of Stonyhurst’s
attention to science emerges
from the plans of classrooms
built during this century. In 1923,
new laboratories for elementary
and advanced physics opened
that afforded a gradation of facili-
ties appropriate to the efficient
teaching of students for all lev-

Fig. 19 Photomeasuring
micrometer by Adam Hilger
of London, c. 1920s, for
determining the distance
between spectrum lines to one
micron via a vernier.

Fig. 17a Detail from plan dated 1921

by Liverpool architects Edmund Kirby

& Sons showing the new college physics
laboratories.b (left) Classroom projector
with maker label: Stroud & Rendell’s
Science Lantern, Sole Makers Reynolds &
Branson Ltd., Commercial St. Leads.

els of this science. The larger elementary
laboratory provided a front demonstration
table and lantern screen for the instructor
while giving students their own benches
with individual gas outlets (Fig. 17a and b).
A smaller advanced laboratory offered sev-
eral work tables with no instructors plat-
form, suggesting a more collaborative rela-
tionship between student and teacher at
this level of teaching. Electrical power was
available at locations along the side walls in
both rooms in addition to a central room
utilized for preparation and storage. In the
1960s, Stonyhurst upgraded their science
classrooms and for physics installed larger
student benches having both electricity
and gas connectors while no changes were
made to the instructor’s demonstration
table (Fig. 18). What stands out here and
in 1923 is Stonyhurst’s enthusiasm for im-
proving student facilities so that classroom
experiments and the associated use of in-
struments remained pedagogically current
and effective.20

Apart from the classroom, the Stonyhurst
observatory continued its astronomy, mete-
orology, and magnetics activities under the
care of Fr.Sidgreaves. Although a Milne seis-
mograph was added in 1909 that expanded
the scientific scope of the facility, along
with ancillary instruments such as a Hilger
photomeasuring micrometer (Fig. 19), the
observatory’s configuration remained rela-
tively static. In 1913, the Meteorological Of-
fice in South Kensington ceased to provide
annual funding to the college in exchange
for systematic meteorological reports,
which created concerns in the college (and
the Jesuit Province) about keeping up its
reputation ‘as a first-class meteorological
station’. After some conversations, it was
determined that Stonyhurst could keep the
weather instruments first lent back in 1868,
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thus preserving its reputation besides the
uninterrupted record of weather data go-
ing back to Fr.Weld’s time.?’

‘What proved more difficult for the observa-
tory was staying relevant as research sci-
ence outpaced the capabilities of its staff
and instruments. A Jesuit always held the
director’s post in addition to some college
teaching duties, but with fewer Jesuits avail-
able for assignment as teachers together
with instruments no longer in step with the
needs of modern research, the observatory
was closed in 1947 when then director Fr.
James Rowland, S J., retired. Standing essen-
tially idle, the fifteen inch Perry Telescope
would be sold in 1966.An attempt to revive
the observatory began in 1979 by a group
of local astronomers which lead to the fa-
cility’s reopening on 1 June 1980 with a
new telescope built using various surviving
spare parts, including a 7 inch Alvan Clark
lens.When the college learned in 1990 that
the Perry Telescope had come up for sale,
it bid to try and regain this piece of lost
Stonyhurst heritage - and was successful.
Now, by means of this distinguished instru-
ment (Fig. 20a and b), students can once
more gaze at the stars in which ‘The Heav-
ens Declare the Glory of God.?®

Conclusion

For over two hundred years, Stonyhurst
College employed scientific instruments
in its mission to teach science. Beyond be-
ing essential tools in this pedagogical work,
these instruments became a springboard
for a handful of Stonyhurst Jesuits who
made many useful scientific contributions
in astronomy, meteorology, magnetics, and
other fields. Thus, it seems appropriate to
conclude that Catholics had found a place
where the immense improvements made in
science may be imparted to them, just as
Fr. Simpson had hoped Stonyhurst would
become in 1808. Last of all, how many col-
leges have a scientific instrument (Fig. 21)
named after them?
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